RECEIVED

Mar 10 2021

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

Appeal from Sumter County
Court of Common Pleas

Kristi F. Curtis, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2017-CP-43-01740
Appellate Case No. 2020-001143

Andrietta Atkinson and Debra Clyburn-Wilson,
individually and as Personal Representatives
of the Estate of Willie Mae Clyburn,

Respondents,

v.

SSC Sumter East Operating Company, LLC
d/b/a Sumter East Health and Rehabilitation Center
and Paul Granger,

Defendants.

Of whom SSC Sumter East Operating Company, LLC
d/b/a Sumter East Health and Rehabilitation Center is

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CLEMENT RIVERS, LLP

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE ON APPEAL

- I. Did the circuit court err in denying the Facility’s¹ motion to compel Plaintiffs’² claims to arbitration? In particular, did the court err in rejecting the Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument, i.e., did it err in failing to find that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged and that Plaintiffs are equitably estopped to deny the Arbitration Agreement’s enforceability?³**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

With the help of her daughter Ms. Clyburn-Wilson, Ms. Clyburn was admitted to the Facility on October 13, 2016. (*See* R. pp. 116–29.) In conjunction therewith, Ms. Clyburn-Wilson signed an Admission Agreement⁴ and an Arbitration Agreement⁵ on her mother’s behalf. By her signature on the Arbitration Agreement,

¹ The “Facility” is Defendant-Appellant, SSC Sumter East Operating Company, LLC d/b/a Sumter East Health and Rehabilitation Center. It is a skilled nursing facility in Sumter County.

² “Plaintiffs” are Plaintiffs-Respondents, Andrietta Atkinson (“Ms. Atkinson”) and Debra Clyburn-Wilson (“Ms. Clyburn-Wilson”), individually and as Personal Representatives of the Estate of Willie Mae Clyburn (“Ms. Clyburn”).

³ Out of an abundance of caution, the Facility would make clear that this issue, and the corresponding argument, goes to the denial of its principal motion and the denial of its subsequent motion to alter, amend, and/or reconsider the denial of its principal motion.

⁴ The “Admission Agreement” refers to the instrument entitled Resident Admission Agreement. (R. pp. 116–29.)

⁵ The “Arbitration Agreement” refers to the instrument entitled Dispute Resolution Program, pursuant to which the “Parties” (which, as defined therein, unquestionably include Plaintiffs and the Facility) agreed to forego litigation and, instead, resolve all “Disputes” (which, as defined therein, unquestionably include Plaintiffs’ claims against the Facility in this action) through various steps of alternative dispute resolution, culminating in binding arbitration. (R. pp. 90–98.)

Ms. Clyburn-Wilson attested that she “ha[d] the authority to sign the agreement on [Ms. Clyburn’s] behalf.” (R. pp. 90–98.)

This action was commenced on September 20, 2017, in the Court of Common Pleas, Sumter County. (*See* R. pp. 18–34.) At that time, Ms. Clyburn was alive, and her daughter Ms. Atkinson brought the suit as her attorney-in-fact. (*See* R. pp. 18–34.)

The Facility timely answered, subject to and without waiving its right to compel the matter to arbitration, denying the material allegations against it and raising a number of affirmative defenses. (R. pp. 39–51.)⁶

Following Ms. Clyburn’s death, the current Plaintiffs (Ms. Atkinson and Ms. Clyburn-Wilson, as personal representatives of Ms. Clyburn’s estate) were substituted in place of the original plaintiff (Ms. Atkinson, as Ms. Clyburn’s attorney-in-fact), and on June 22, 2019, they filed the operative complaint in this case (the “Complaint”), alleging wrongful death and survival claims against the Facility. (R. pp. 52–69.) The gravamen of the Complaint is that the Facility’s deficient care/treatment of Ms. Clyburn during her residency allowed her to

⁶ As for the other named Defendant, Paul Granger, he is not a party to this appeal. Indeed, he has not been served and, thus, the action has not been commenced against him. *See* Rule 3(a), SCRCP (providing that a civil action is commenced when the summons and complaint are filed, so long as the summons and complaint are served within the statute of limitations or, if not served within the statute of limitations, served within 120 days after they are filed).

develop pressure sores, which resulted in her decline and eventual death. (*See* R. pp. 53–69.)⁷

The Facility timely answered, again subject to and without waiving its right to compel this matter to arbitration, denying the material allegations against it and raising a number of affirmative defenses. (R. pp. 70–83.)

The parties agreed to conduct limited discovery and to engage in mediation without waiver of the Facility’s arbitration rights. Mediation proved unsuccessful, and the Facility filed the subject motion to compel arbitration on February 27, 2020. (R. pp. 84–89.)

Following the parties’ submission of briefs,⁸ the circuit court, the Honorable Kristi F. Curtis presiding, denied the Facility’s motion by order filed June 25, 2020. (R. pp. 1–14.) On July 6, 2020, the Facility timely moved the circuit court to alter, amend, and/or reconsider its decision, pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCF. (R. pp. 199–208.) The court denied the motion by order filed July 14, 2020. (R. pp. 15–17.)

⁷ Again, there is no dispute here about whether Plaintiffs’ claims against the Facility are within the scope of the Arbitration Agreement, they are. (*See* R. p. 93 (defining “Dispute”).) But even if there were “any doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues[,] [they] should be resolved in favor of arbitration” *Towles v. United HealthCare Corp.*, 338 S.C. 29, 41, 524 S.E.2d 839, 846 (Ct. App. 1999).

⁸ (R. pp. 99–115, 153–92.)

By notice served August 13, 2020, this appeal timely follows. (R. pp. 209–13.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A circuit court’s determination of whether a claim is subject to arbitration is reviewed de novo on appeal. *Gissel v. Hart*, 382 S.C. 235, 240, 676 S.E.2d 320, 323 (2009). This includes de novo review of the determination of whether an arbitration agreement is enforceable against a nonsignatory. *Wilson v. Willis*, 426 S.C. 326, 334, 827 S.E.2d 167, 172 (2019). “Under de novo review, a circuit court’s factual findings will not be reversed on appeal if any evidence reasonably supports those findings.” *Id.* Issues of law, however, are reviewed without any particular deference to the lower court. *See, e.g., Duke Energy Corp. v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue*, 415 S.C. 351, 782 S.E.2d 590 (2016). Even where a ruling is on a matter within trial court’s discretion, if the ruling is based on a misunderstanding of the law, rather than upon the exercise of discretion, the question presented on appeal is one of law. *See Bain v. Self Mem’l Hosp.*, 281 S.C. 138, 152, 314 S.E.2d 603, 611 (Ct. App. 1984).

ARGUMENT

- I. The circuit court erred in denying the Facility’s motion to compel arbitration. In particular, the court erred in rejecting the Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument, i.e., it erred in failing to find that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged and that Plaintiffs are equitably estopped to deny the Arbitration Agreement’s enforceability.**

The circuit court’s analysis touches on issues relating to agency (not only of true agency but also of agency by estoppel, as well as the concept of ratification); third-party beneficiaries; and the Adult Health Care Consent Act, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 44-66-10 to -80. (*See R.* pp. 1–14.) To be clear, however, these issues have no bearing on the Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument. Most respectfully, the circuit court’s merger/equitable estoppel analysis is erroneous, to include the court’s use of the wrong test for equitable estoppel.

Re: Merger

South Carolina recognizes numerous potentially viable theories under which a nonsignatory can be bound to an arbitration agreement. *Wilson*, 426 S.C. at 338, 827 S.E.2d at 174 (“South Carolina has recognized several theories that could bind nonsignatories to arbitration agreements under general principles of contract and agency law, including (1) incorporation by reference, (2) assumption, (3) agency, (4) veil piercing/alter ego, and (5) estoppel.”).

In *Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc.*, even though our Supreme Court found against merger on the *particular facts* before it, the Court nonetheless

confirmed the validity of the general proposition of *law* on which the *Coleman* appellants based their merger/equitable estoppel argument:

Appellants contend that even if Sister lacked capacity to execute the AA under the Act, she is nevertheless equitably estopped to deny the AA's enforceability. The circuit court held there was no estoppel here, and we agree.

Appellants' equitable estoppel argument is premised on their contention that, under state law, the admission agreements and the AAs merged. In South Carolina,

The general rule is that, in the absence of anything indicating a contrary intention, where instruments are executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction, the courts will consider and construe the documents together. The theory is that the instruments are effectively one instrument or contract.

Klutts Resort Realty, Inc. v. Down'Round Dev. Corp., 268 S.C. 80, 88, 232 S.E.2d 20, 24 (1977).

Here, *the documents were executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purposes, and in the course of the same transaction. Unless there is a contrary intention, appellants are correct that there was a merger.*

407 S.C. 346, 354–55, 755 S.E.2d 450, 455 (2014) (emphasis added).

In the instant case, the circuit court erred in rejecting the Facility's merger argument, failing to recognize material distinctions between the facts of this case and those that controlled (and/or were not addressed in) *Coleman* and its progeny,

Hodge v. UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC, 422 S.C. 544, 813 S.E.2d 292 (Ct. App. 2018), and *Thompson v. Pruitt Corp.*, 416 S.C. 43, 784 S.E.2d 679 (Ct. App. 2016).

The merger question examines whether, “where instruments are executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction,”⁹ as indeed the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement were here,¹⁰ there is evidence to upset the *presumption in favor of merger*, i.e., the presumption that the contracting parties intended the instruments to be construed together as effectively one contract. This is a question of the parties’ intention. *Id.* at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (“in the absence of anything indicating a contrary *intention . . .*”) (emphasis added). “[I]n attempting to ascertain th[e] [parties’] intention,” the Court “endeavor[s] to determine the situation of the parties, as well as their purposes, at the time the contract was entered into.” *Klutts*, 268 S.C. at 89, 232 S.E.2d at 25.

For the merger presumption to mean anything in practice, it cannot be upset based on mere conjecture, but only on actual evidence that—notwithstanding the

⁹ *Coleman*, 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455.

¹⁰ As the *Coleman* Court expressly observes regarding the admission and arbitration agreements before it (which in *this* respect—but not in respect of the material facts bearing on the question of whether the presumption of merger is rebutted—are no different from the instant agreements), “the documents were [indeed] executed at *the same time, by the same parties, for the same purposes, and*

concurrence of all the particular circumstances necessary for the presumption to even arise in the first place (same time, parties, purpose, and transaction)—can nonetheless support a reasonable, non-speculative inference that the parties’ intention was contrary to merger. *Cf. The Huffines Co., LLC v. Lockhart*, 365 S.C. 178, 188, 617 S.E.2d 125, 130 (Ct. App. 2005) (“[V]erdicts may not be permitted to rest upon surmise, conjecture, or speculation.”). No such inference can be drawn here. Indeed, it does not even make sense that the parties would have intended the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement not to merge.

While it is true that the Arbitration Agreement is unnecessary to the Admission Agreement,¹¹ the converse is not true: The Admission Agreement is indeed necessary to the Arbitration Agreement. So yes, the Admission Agreement *could* have stood on its own, without the Arbitration Agreement ever having been executed, in which case no question of merger would have even arisen to begin with. But that is not what happened. The Arbitration Agreement was in fact executed, and it was executed under the unique circumstances giving rise to a presumption of merger—again, same time, parties, purpose, and transaction.

Even though the Arbitration Agreement was not a *condition* of admission, it was agreed to in *conjunction* with admission; whereupon, it was intended to be

in the course of the same transaction.” 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (emphasis added).

considered and construed together with the Admission Agreement, such that the two were effectively one instrument governing various interrelated aspects of Ms. Clyburn's relationship with the Facility: the Admission Agreement setting forth the terms of her admission, the Arbitration Agreement providing for arbitration of disputes arising out of her admission. (*Compare* R. pp. 116–29 (setting forth the terms of Ms. Clyburn's admission to the Facility) *with* R. pp. 90–98 (providing for arbitration of disputes arising out of Ms. Clyburn's admission in the Facility).)

Indeed, the fact that the Arbitration Agreement was not required for admission underscores its *connectedness* to the Admission Agreement. The two go together hand in glove. Without the hand (the Admission Agreement), there is no reason for the glove (the Arbitration Agreement). Unlike the Admission Agreement, however, which is capable of making sense either standing alone or, alternatively, together with the Arbitration Agreement, the Arbitration Agreement only makes sense together with the Admission Agreement, which is its (the Arbitration Agreement's) sole reason for being. The fact that the Arbitration Agreement was not required for admission does not mean that it was not intended to be part of the admissions materials intended to be construed together. To say that the Arbitration Agreement is not essential to admission is not the same as saying it was not part of the admissions paperwork once it was in fact voluntarily

¹¹ (*See* R. p. 91 (“YOUR PARTICIPATION IN [THE DISPUTE

agreed to and signed in conjunction with Ms. Clyburn's admission. In other words, it did not have to be agreed to, in which case it would not have been included in the admissions paperwork, or anywhere else, as it simply would not have existed. But it was agreed to, as part and parcel of the admissions paperwork, Ms. Clyburn's admission to the Facility being the express—and only—reason why the parties chose to enter into the arbitration agreement to begin with.

Superficial matters like the fact that Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement have their own titles, are separately paginated, and separately signed are immaterial. Respectfully, to point to such things is really to do no more than to point out that the Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement are separate instruments, a fact which does not actually suggest anything probative about the intent of the contracting parties as to whether they should be *construed* together. Indeed, the question of merger will not arise in the first place unless there are multiple instruments involved. Obviously, it cannot be the case that the mere existence of the necessary factual predicate for the question of merger to arise, i.e., separate instruments, shows an intention contrary to merger.

And to fall back on the idea that any ambiguity in this regard must be construed against the Facility as the drafter makes no sense in this context. It must

RESOLUTION PROGRAM] IS VOLUNTARY . . .”).)

be remembered that merger is the default position, i.e., it is presumed, and that this presumption arises only upon the occurrence of a specific set of circumstances, those being, as stated in the above-quoted passage from *Coleman*, where, as here, the instruments are executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction. When all of these align—same time, same parties, same purpose, same transaction—our courts *will* consider and construe the documents together *unless* there is evidence of a contrary intention. The plain language of the rule endorsed in *Coleman* is to the effect that to upset the merger presumption requires evidence “indicating [(i.e., affirmatively showing)] a contrary intention.” To allow the merger presumption to be upset, as, respectfully, the Court has done here, based on evidence that does not even go so far as to clearly indicate a contrary intention, but at most *might* (or might not) reflect a contrary intention, is to allow the exception to devour the rule.

Respectfully, the circuit court should have found that the Arbitration Agreement merged with the Admission Agreement. The instruments were executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purposes, and in the course of the same transaction, the whole of which related to Ms. Clyburn’s admission to the Facility and would not have been done at all but for her admission to the Facility. Any finding against merger improperly relies on speculation, not

evidence from which a reliable conclusion can reasonably be drawn regarding the contracting parties' intent.

Re: Equitable Estoppel

The circuit court's discussion of equitable estoppel misapprehends or overlooks South Carolina's favorable view of the applicability of the direct benefits test for equitable estoppel in arbitration cases.

The circuit court cites only the "traditional" six-factor test for equitable estoppel analyzed in *non*-arbitration cases. (R. p. 10.) South Carolina law, however, recognizes the potential for equitable estoppel to be successfully invoked to enforce an arbitration agreement against a nonsignatory under the direct benefits test. *See Wilson*, 426 S.C. at 338, 827 S.E.2d at 174 (observing that South Carolina has recognized a number of theories that could bind nonsignatories to arbitration agreements, including estoppel).

The *Wilson* Court favorably discussed the framework of the so-called direct benefits test—which test the Court of Appeals had applied in the decision then before the *Wilson* Court on writ of certiorari, which followed the Court of Appeals' earlier decision in *Pearson v. Hilton Head Hospital*, 400 S.C. 281, 733 S.E.2d 597 (Ct. App. 2012), and under which the Facility contends Plaintiffs are estopped from refusing to comply with the Arbitration Agreement here, where Ms. Clyburn received direct benefits (in the form of her admission and care/treatment at the

Facility) from the Admission Agreement with which the Arbitration Agreement was merged. *Wilson*, 426 S.C. at 340–345, 827 S.E.2d at 175–177; *see also id.* at 340, 827 S.E.2d at 175 n.6 (while expressing no opinion on the petitioner’s alternative argument based on the application of the state’s “traditional” six-factor test for estoppel, which the *Wilson* Court found unpreserved for review, observing nonetheless that that test, i.e., “[t]he traditional test referenced by [the] [p]etitioners,” “has been analyzed most-often in *non*-arbitration cases”) (emphasis added). In other words, *Wilson*—as well as logic itself—supports the use of the direct benefit test to answer the question of equitable estoppel in an arbitration case like this, not the six-factor test relied on by the circuit court.

Properly viewing the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement as merged, Ms. Clyburn (who was, according to Ms. Clyburn-Wilson herself, competent and possessed contractual capacity at all relevant times) received the benefit of her admission to the Facility, including, without limitation, the room, board, care, and treatment she received therein. To deny her receipt of such benefits is illogical. It would require wholly discounting every single aspect of her residency (every meal, every instance of care/treatment delivered, essentially every moment at the Facility). Plaintiffs themselves do not even allege this. (*See R.* pp. 53–69.)

Respectfully, the circuit court should have found that the Arbitration Agreement merged with the Admission Agreement and that Plaintiffs are estopped to deny the Arbitration Agreement's enforceability, Ms. Clyburn having effectively embraced/directly benefitted from the Admission Agreement for the purpose of her admission only to later, via Plaintiffs, attempt to repudiate the Arbitration Agreement with which the Admission Agreement was merged.¹²

Lastly, out of an abundance of caution, to the extent it may be relevant in regard to the circuit court's treatment of the Facility's equitable estoppel argument, the court's analysis improperly includes the assertion that the Facility "had the capacity to determine whether [Ms. Clyburn-Wilson] had authority to sign the Arbitration Agreement on [Ms.] Clyburn's behalf" and, indeed, could have simply asked Ms. Clyburn-Wilson whether she had such authority. (R. p. 11.) This is erroneous and unsupported by any evidence in the record.

The circuit court overlooks or misapprehends (a) the duty of good faith and fair dealing implied in every contract, (b) that one who has signed a contract is presumed to have read, understood, and assented to its terms, and (c) the fact that, by way of the Arbitration Agreement itself, the Facility did in fact inquire of Ms.

¹² Although the dispute here is about the Arbitration Agreement, as opposed to the Admission Agreement, to the extent there were any question about the enforceability of the Admission Agreement, the Facility's equitable estoppel argument applies with equal force to the Admission Agreement.

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