**RECEIVED**

**Feb 23 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SUMTER COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Kristi F. Curtis, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-001143

Andrietta Atkinson and Debra Clyburn-  
Wilson, individually and as Personal  
Representatives of the Estate of Willie  
Mae Clyburn, ..... Respondents

v.

SSC Sumter East Operating Company,  
LLC, d/b/a Sumter East Health and  
Rehabilitation Center and Paul  
Granger, ..... Defendants.

Of whom SSC Sumter East Operating  
Company LLC, d/b/a Sumter East Health  
and Rehabilitation Center is ..... Appellant.

---

**RESPONDENTS' FINAL BRIEF**

---

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

## ARGUMENT

Mother did not agree to arbitrate her legal claims against the Facility. The Facility never even asked her to. As the circuit court found (and the Facility did not challenge on appeal)<sup>3</sup>, Mother had the capacity to consider and decide whether to enter contracts on her own when she became the Facility's resident. (R. p. 6). Yet, the Facility chose to present the Arbitration Agreement to Ms. Clyburn-Wilson, and she had no authority to act on Mother's behalf. The circuit court correctly concluded the Arbitration Agreement is invalid because it lacks the core requirement of mutual assent to form a binding agreement. (R. pp. 3-9). The Facility's insistence that Ms. Clyburn-Wilson's signature means Mother's claims must be arbitrated is a serious distortion of contract law.

---

<sup>3</sup> Any ruling not specifically challenged on appeal is the law of the case and must be affirmed. League v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control, 363 S.C. 67, 76, 610 S.E.2d 482, 487 (2005).

To challenge the circuit court's finding of no valid contract, the Facility relies on a series of unsupported assertions: (1) Ms. Clyburn-Wilson had some form of unspecified authority to sign a separate Admission Agreement for Mother; (2) the Arbitration Agreement and Admission Agreement are really a single contract; and (3) Mother and Respondents are somehow estopped from opposing arbitration as a result of Ms. Clyburn-Wilson's actions. The Facility's arguments would be flawed even if the issues were novel. But, South Carolina's appellate courts have been here before and three times rejected the merger and estoppel theories the Facility needs to prevail. Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc., 407 S.C. 346, 755 S.E.2d 450 (2014); Thompson v. Pruitt Corp., 416 S.C. 43, 784 S.E.2d 679 (Ct. App. 2016); Hodge v. UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC, 422 S.C. 544, 813 S.E.2d 292 (Ct. App. 2018).

Recently, this Court rejected the Facility's estoppel argument for a *fourth* time, reinforcing that a nursing home resident is not equitably barred from suing the home for negligent care based on a family member's signature on an admission contract. Weaver v. Brookdale Senior Living, Inc., 431 S.C. 223, 847 S.E.2d 268 (Ct. App. 2020). For the reasons discussed below, the Court should reject the Facility's attempts to distinguish this growing body of precedent and the multiple instances where the Facility implicitly asks the Court to overrule these cases. In the end, the Facility's pursuit of arbitration should fail for the same reason as the nursing homes in Coleman, Thompson, Hodge, and Weaver: Neither Mother nor anyone with legal authority to act on her behalf agreed to arbitration, and Mother/Respondents have taken no action that would prevent them from insisting on a judicial forum for their claims.

**1. The Independently-Invalid Arbitration Agreement does not Merge with the Admission Agreement.**

The Facility argues Respondents must arbitrate Mother's claims against the Facility, but there is no valid contract requiring them to do so. Mother never signed or otherwise assented to

the Arbitration Agreement on which the Facility relies to support its motion. Ms. Clyburn-Wilson's signature on the Arbitration Agreement is ineffective because she did not have authority to bind Mother to a dispute resolution contract. Moreover, as the circuit court concluded, the fact that Mother lived at the Facility as a resident does not estop her or Respondents from contesting arbitration under South Carolina or federal equitable estoppel principles.

This appeal centers on core components of contract formation. Since the Facility points only to the Arbitration Agreement as a basis for dismissing Respondents' claims, it cannot prevail without first establishing the Arbitration Agreement is a properly formed, binding contract. However, while the Facility offered the Arbitration Agreement as an alternative means for settling disputes, neither Mother nor anyone with legal authority accepted that offer. Moreover, as established in South Carolina precedent, any statutory authority Ms. Clyburn-Wilson may have had to admit Mother to the Facility does not confer authority to enter the Arbitration Agreement, a document the Facility drafted as a separate and distinct contract offered for a completely different purpose.

**a. The Facility Cannot Show the Core Requirements to Form a Contract.**

A contract is formed only when one party makes an offer, the other manifests acceptance, and the contract's promises are supported by valuable consideration. Sauner v. Pub. Serv. Auth. of S.C., 354 S.C. 397, 406, 581 S.E.2d 161, 166 (2003). Acceptance requires an "objective manifestation of . . . assent at the time the contract was made." Laser Supply & Services, Inc. v. Orchard Park Assoc., 382 S.C. 326, 334, 676 S.E.2d 139, 143-44 (Ct. App. 2009). The Arbitration Agreement was not signed by Mother or offered to her even though she had contractual capacity at the time of her admission. (R. p. 6). The Facility argues Ms. Clyburn-Wilson's signature assented on Mother's behalf, but the Facility presents nothing to show Ms. Clyburn-Wilson had

authority to contract for Mother. Instead, the Facility now seems to argue Ms. Clyburn-Wilson had statutory authority to enter Mother to the Facility and that authority either carries over to the Arbitration Agreement or equitably estops Mother/Respondents from opposing arbitration. The circuit court correctly refused both of these arguments because they have been rejected by South Carolina appellate courts four times in less than seven years.

South Carolina's Adult Health Care Consent Act ("the Act") empowers designated family members of some vulnerable adults to sign a contract admitting the vulnerable adult to a skilled nursing facility and agreeing to pay the fees imposed by that facility for its services. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-66-60(A); Coleman, 407 S.C. at 352, 755 S.E.2d at 453. But, since the Act is limited to "health care" decisions, it provides no authority for separate contracts like the Arbitration Agreement. Id. at 354, 755 S.E.2d at 454; Thompson, 416 S.C. at 51, 784 S.E.2d at 684 (Ct. App. 2016) (citing Coleman and agreeing an "Arbitration Agreement does not deal with healthcare decisions"). Additionally, a family member signing a nursing home admission contract pursuant to authority derived from the Act does not estop a later argument that the same family member lacked authority to sign a separate arbitration contract. Coleman, 407 S.C. at 354-56, 755 S.E.2d at 455; Thompson, 416 S.C. at 60, 784 S.E.2d at 688. The Act was never meant to affect anything other than "health care" decisions, and the Arbitration Agreement was not a health care decision because Mother could get all the health care services covered in the Admission Agreement without agreeing to arbitrate. Appellants' Br. at 8 (admitting Arbitration Agreement was unnecessary to gain admission to the Facility).

Coleman did acknowledge the possibility equitable estoppel could be invoked if the disputed arbitration language was actually or effectively part of the same admission contract. 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455. This narrow path to a successful estoppel argument requires several

steps. Preliminarily, the Facility must establish the Act empowered Ms. Clyburn-Wilson to enter the Admission Agreement on Mother's behalf. See Hodge, 422 S.C. at 574, 813 S.E.2d at 308 (finding that there can be no estoppel argument where signatory family member lacked authority under Act to enter admission contract). Then, the Facility must link the admission and arbitration contracts by meeting multiple requirements to apply a common-law contract law interpretation principle by which courts interpret multiple writings as a single contract. Coleman, 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455. This "merger" principle cannot apply unless the writings in question were executed "at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction." Id. (quoting Klutts Resort Realty, Inc. v. Down'Round Dev. Corp., 268 S.C. 80, 88, 232 S.E.2d 20, 24 (1977)). Even then, merger does not apply if there is "*anything* indicating a contrary intention." Id. (emphasis added). Thus, simultaneously executed writings relating to the same general subject matter will not be viewed as a single or merged agreement if either their language or the circumstances even hint that the parties actually intended the writings to be distinct, separate contracts. Three nursing homes have previously attempted but failed to meet these requirements, and South Carolina's appellate courts have never applied merger to nursing home admission and arbitration contracts. See generally Coleman, Thompson, and Hodge.

**b. The Facility Admits Ms. Clyburn-Wilson Lacked Authority under the Adult Health Care Consent Act.**

The Facility cannot meet any of the requirements to support its equitable estoppel argument. First, the Facility cannot show Ms. Clyburn-Wilson had authority to enter the Admission Agreement. As Coleman and Thompson demonstrate, the Facility's merger and estoppel arguments could only be relevant to this appeal if Ms. Clyburn-Wilson had authority under the Act. Coleman, 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (noting estoppel argument "is premised on [nursing home's] contention that, under state law, the admissions agreements and the

[arbitration contract] merge”); Thompson, 416 S.C. at 49-50, 784 S.E.2d at 683 (finding merger argument depended on notion that family member who signed contract “was authorized to execute [admission contract] under the Act”). The Facility admits it is not claiming Ms. Clyburn-Wilson had authority under the Act to enter the Admission Agreement. Appellant’s Br. at 5; (R. p. 202). As this Court has held, expressly disclaiming an argument based on the Act and merger is enough to doom a merger and estoppel argument on appeal. Thompson, 416 S.C. at 50, 784 S.E.2d at 683 (finding nursing home waived merger argument through statement at circuit court).

Moreover, the Facility’s concession is well supported by the record. The Act only applies to decisions made on behalf of a person “unable to consent.” S.C. Code Ann. § 44-66-30(A). A person is “unable to consent” only if she is unable to (1) appreciate the nature of her condition; (2) make a reasoned decision about a proposed plan of care; or (3) communicate her desires in an unambiguous manner. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-66-20(8). Mother did not meet these requirements when she was admitted to the Facility. In fact, Mother demonstrated her competency and contractual capacity five months after her admission when she executed a durable power of attorney naming Ms. Atkinson as her agent. (R. pp. 130-49). Since the Facility has argued the Act does not apply and the evidence would not support its application, the Facility’s merger and estoppel arguments fail at their initial hurdle.<sup>4</sup>

---

<sup>4</sup> Without the authority granted by the Act, the Facility’s only remaining argument to support Ms. Clyburn-Wilson’s alleged authority to execute the Admission Agreement is a double-layer estoppel argument. In short, the Facility claims (1) Mother is equitably estopped from denying the Admission Agreement because she was in fact admitted; (2) the Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement merged; and (3) Mother was then estopped from denying the Arbitration Agreement because it was part of the Admission Agreement. Appellant’s Br. at 14 n. 12. Here again, however, the Facility’s estoppel argument as to the Admission Agreement has been rejected by this Court. Hodge, 422 S.C. at 563, 813 S.E.2d at 302 (finding it difficult to conclude a nursing home resident “benefited” from a nursing home admission marked by negligent care that caused her death).

**c. The Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreements Serve Different Purposes.**

Second, the Facility cannot show the Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement were executed for the same purpose. The Admission Agreement was formed to enumerate the nursing services the Facility would provide and to define Mother's obligation to pay for those services. (R. p. 120). That purpose is borne out in the Admission Agreement's nine pages. The Facility agreed to "provide the Resident with basic room and board as well as nursing and personal care and other ancillary items and services needed for the Resident's health, safety and well-being" (R. p. 122 § IV) and, in turn, Mother agreed to "[p]ay Facility for all services and items that the Facility provides" for its services. (R. p. 124 § VI). The Admission Agreement's provisions referred to Medicaid eligibility, bed hold policies, late fees for unpaid service charges, etc. The Arbitration Agreement covers a completely different issue. It is solely devoted to directing an alternative dispute resolution method and purporting to eliminate its parties' right to seek relief through the courts. (R. p. 91). These two contracts cannot have the same purpose because, as the Facility admits, the Arbitration Agreement was not a pre-condition for admission. Appellants' Br. at 8.

**d. The Terms and Context Show the Parties Intended the Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement to be Separate Contracts.**

Third, even if the Facility had not disclaimed any reliance on the Act and even if the prerequisites to merger were present, the Facility's argument fails because the language and circumstances of the Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement show the parties intended they be construed as separate contracts. Coleman, Thompson, and Hodge are the key precedent here because they illustrate the type of contract language or structure showing parties do not intend multiple agreements to be interpreted as one. For example, an arbitration contract does not merge with an admission contract in which a nursing home and its resident chose to insert an "entire

agreement” or integration provision (aka “merger clause”) limiting its parameters and excluding other writings. Coleman, 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455. Coleman held one such provision proved “on its face” that merger does not apply. Id. Also, admission and arbitration contracts cannot merge if they contain inconsistent terms, especially provisions related to how each contract may be terminated. Id.; Thompson, 416 S.C. at 53, 784 S.E.2d at 685. Moreover, courts look at the way the contracts are structured, finding it is unlikely parties intended two contracts to be treated as one if they chose separate titles, required separate signatures, and numbered each contract’s pages differently. Thompson, 416 S.C. at 53 n. 1, 784 S.E.2d at 685 n. 1; Hodge, 422 S.C. at 562, 813 S.E.2d at 302. Finally, Hodge held a nursing home cannot argue for merger when it chose to separate arbitration and admission into two agreements while taking the position that agreeing to the former was not required to obtain the benefits of the latter. 422 S.C. at 562-63, 813 S.E.2d at 302.

The Facility preemptively dismisses all of these factors, arguing none of them suggest the parties intended the Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement stand on their own. Appellant’s Br. at 7-11. However, by rejecting or discounting these factors, the Facility is arguing against well-established, recent precedent (Coleman, Thompson, and Hodge) without offering the Court any reason why it should so dramatically and quickly reverse course. All four of these factors apply to the Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement and provide extensive evidence to support the circuit court’s finding that the contracts do not merge.

**i. The Admission Agreement’s “Entirety of Agreement” Provision**

The Admission Agreement concludes with an “Entirety of Agreement” provision identifying the contract’s limited scope. (R. p. 127). Specifically, this provision states “this Agreement . . . contains all of the promises and agreements between the parties.” “Agreement” is

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